A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The infom1ation is constitutionally deficient because it omits 

an essential element of the charged crime. 

2. Prosecutorial misconduct denied appellant a fair trial. 

3. The trial court erred in giving a flawed reasonable doubt 

instruction, in violation of due process and the right to a jury trial. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments ofError 

1. Did the State violate article I, section 22 of the Washington 

Constitution, the Sixth Amendment, and CrR 2.l(a)(1), by charging the 

appellant with second degree burglary without alleging the essential 

element of the ownership or occupancy of the burglarized building? 

2. Did the prosecutor commit reversible misconduct during 

closing argument when he repeatedly invited the jury to infer appellant 

was guilty of an uncharged crime? 

3. Does the jury instruction defining reasonable doubt as "one 

for which a reason exists" misdescribe the burden of proof, undermine the 

presumption of innocence, and shift the burden to the accused to provide a 

reason for why reasonable doubt exists? 
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B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State charged Nathon Allen by amended information with 

second degree burglary (Cotmt 1), theft of a motor vehicle (Count 2), and 

first degree theft (Count 3). CP 12-13. The State alleged that on November 

27, 2013, Allen entered and remained unlawfully in a building located at 

3600 East Valley Road, with intent to commit a crime against a person or 

property therein. CP 12. The State also alleged that on the same date, Allen 

wrongfully obtained a motorcycle and several items belonging to Paul 

LaVaque. CP 12-13. Pursuant to the State's motion, the court dismissed the 

two theft charges because La Vaque had an outstanding bench wan·ant and 

refused to appear for trial. RP 136; CP 39. 

Burt Brienen owns storage unit 626 at Public Storage, 3600 East 

Valley Road, Renton, Washington. RP 252. Brienen and his stepson, 

LaVaque, store many household and personal items there. RP 253-54. On 

October 16, 2013, Brienen noticed several items missing :from his storage 

unit, including weights, tools, painting supplies, and LaVaque's leather 

jackets and motorcycle riding boots. RP 256-58, 282-83. A September 25, 

2013 surveillance video showed an unidentified individual pull up to the 

storage unit in aU-Haul van. RP 325-26. Both Brienen and LaVaque had a 

set of keys to the storage unit. RP 289. Brienen explained, though, that he 

kept both sets of keys after this incident. RP 289. 
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On November 25, 2013, Allen purchased storage unit 625, adjacent 

to Brienen's, at public auction. RP 154-57. Public Storage District Manager 

Zachary Siahpush explained that after 45 days of nonpayment on a storage 

unit, the unit can be sold at public auction. RP 151-52. After the owner of 

unit 625 failed to pay, Siahpush cut the lock on the unit and conducted a 

visual inspection of it sometime between November 2 and 6, 2013. RP 151-

59. The unit appeared to have been used as a residence, containing a bed, 

dresser, mirror, and empty fast food bags. RP 159. Siahpush testified he did 

not see anything of great value inside unit 625. RP 159. 

Once an individual purchases a storage unit at auction, he or she has 

two days to empty it. RP 153, 163. Public Storage is a secure facility, 

requiring an individualized gate code to enter. RP 151, 173-74. Auction 

buyers are not given a gate code; instead they must request access fi·om a 

Public Storage employee. RP 162-63 .. 

Around 6:00 p.m. on November 26, the day after the auction, Allen 

went to the Public Storage office to request access to his storage unit. RP 

207-08, 218. Relief Manager Kelly Mast had Allen sign in and opened the 

gate for him. RP 207-08. Allen retumed to the office shortly thereafter to 

ask if someone could cut the lock on his unit because he had forgotten his 

key at home. RP 208-11. Allen completed a lock cut request form and 

Siahpush agreed to cut the lock for him. RP 208-11. Property Manager 

.., 
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Susan Irving opened the gate for Allen when he exited the property around 

9:00p.m. with his truck and trailer. RP 194-97. 

Allen returned the following morning, November 27, 2013, and 

again asked Mast for access to the propetty. RP 212-13. Mast testified she 

opened the gate for Allen and did not see anyone else inside Allen's pickup 

truck. RP 212-13. Then, while Mast conducted her morning lock check of 

the facility, another man who appeared to be an acquaintance of Allen's 

"popped oqt" of Allen's unit. RP 215. Mast testified she was suspicious, so 

she returned to the office and watched the security video. RP 216-17. On 

the video fiom that morning, Mast testified she saw Allen pull up to the unit 

and get out of his truck with two fast food bags and two cups of coffee. RP 

214-17. On the security video played for the jury, though, Allen was only 

carrying one cup of coffee. RP 244. The video then showed Allen and the 

other man loading up Allen's truck. RP 21 7-19. 

Mast also watched the security video from the previous evening, 

November 26. RP 218-19. She testified she saw Allen and a different man 

mulling around Allen's storage unit for a while, then Siahpush appeared on 

the video and left soon after. RP 218-19. Allen and the other man loaded up 

Allen's truck and trailer "with the contents of what was in that unit." RP 

219. Three other cars pulled up and the passengers spoke with Allen and the 
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other man; "then they all left." RP 219. This surveillance video was played 

for the jury. RP 223-25. 

Brienen called the police on November 27, 2013 to report items 

missing from his storage unit, including a pressure washer, portable air 

conditioner, leather bench, king-sized mattress, decorative wooden bench, 

and LaVaque's motorcycle. Ex. 12; RP 138-39, 256-58, 265-73. Records 

showed Brienen had not accessed the property since November 1, 2013. RP 

175. Officer Robert Ylinen responded. RP 138-41. He testified the lock on 

Brienen's storage unit was still intact, but screws had been conspicuously 

removed and replaced on the interior wall shared with unit 625. RP 142-45. 

Detective Renggli went to Allen's home on March 7, 2014 with two 

other detectives to investigate. RP 298. Allen explained to Renggli that he 

purchased unit 625 for $100 and was still in possession of many of the items 

from the unit. RP 299-300. Renggli showed Allen several photos from the 

November 26 and 27 surveillance videos. RP 300. Allen identified himself 

and his friend Paul Reed in the November 26 photos, and himself and his 

acquaintance John Cotton in the November 27 photos. RP 300-02. Allen 

explained he and Cotton made anangements for Cotton to help him clear out 

the storage unit on that date. RP 302-03. Cotton was deceased by the time 

Renggli spoke with Allen. RP 340-41. 
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Allen then led the detectives around his property retrieving items 

from the storage unit he purchased, including a pressure washer, portable air 

conditioning unit, tools, and motorcycle riding boots. RP 304-08. Some but 

not all of the items Allen retrieved were identified by Brien en as stolen from 

his storage unit. RP 306-08. For instance, Allen showed Renggli a battery 

charger, nail gun, and several tools that were not among the allegedly stolen 

items. RP 306-07. Renggli testified Allen was ve1y cooperative throughout 

the encounter. RP 304, 321-22. 

At trial, the State played the November 27 surveillance video during 

Brienen's testimony. RP 268-69. As the video played, Brienen identified 

several of the items from his storage unit being loaded into Allen's truck, 

including: sand cup tires for LaVaque's motorcycle, a bicycle, sledge 

hammer, shop-vac, circular saw, the mattress, and air conditioning unit. RP 

268-75. Brienen testified he did not know Allen and never gave him 

permission to enter his storage unit. RP 281. 

In closing, the State argued: 

[T]his is not about that first burglary that was reported. 
We're not here to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the 
defendant participated in that burglary on October 16th. It 
may be likely, it may be probable, but it will not be one of the 
elements that the State must prove beyond a reasonable 
doubt. 
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RP 352. Defense counsel did not object. RP 352. Later in closing, the State 

again argued: 

And it's important to remember when you're thinking 
about this case, think about that first burglary, what was 
reported, and think about November 27th. The first burglary 
we're not here to prove that the defendant was involved in. 
It's highly likely again because of some of that property that 
was found on his property, some of Burt's property--. 

RP 361. Defense counsel objected, but the trial court overruled, stating, 

"This is argument." RP 3 61. The State continued, "Property from that first 

burglary, as Burt told you, was found on Mr. Allen's property. It's probably 

likely that somehow there was a com1ection, but that's not what the State has 

to prove in this case." RP 361. The State concluded its closing argument 

shortly thereafter. RP 361. 

The State's theory was that Allen's friend Cotton stayed overnight in 

Allen's storage unit on November 26 in order to access Brienen's unit. RP 

369-70. The defense theory was that Allen unwittingly purchased a storage 

unit that contained Brienen's property. RP 363. Defense counsel also 

pointed out that the surveillance video from November 26 never showed 

Cotton, only Allen's friend, Reed. RP 369-70. 

The jury found Allen guilty of second degree burglary. CP 40. The 

comi sentenced Allen to 12 months of electronic home detention. CP 63. 

Allen timely appeals. CP 73-74. 
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C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE BURGLARY CHARGE MUST BE DISMISSED 
BECAUSE THE INFORMATION FAILED TO ALLEGE 
THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF OWNERSHIP OR 
OCCUPANCY. 

An information charging burglary must allege the oWnership or 

occupancy of the burglarized premises so as to negate the accused's right to 

enter. The information charging Allen with burglary stated: 

That the defendant Nathon George Allen in King 
County, Washington, on or about November 27, 2013, did 
enter and remain unlawfully in a building, located at 3600 
East Valley Road, in said county and state, with intent to 
commit a crime again a person or property therein .... 

CP 12. This failed to negate Allen's right to enter because Allen had lawful 

access to the storage unit he purchased at 3600 East Valley Road. Allen's 

burglary conviction should be reversed because even under a liberal reading 

of the infmmation, the essential element of ownership or occupancy is 

missing. This renders the information constitutionally infirm. 

An information is constitutional under article I, section 22 of the 

Washington Constitution and the Sixth Amendment only if it includes all 

statutory and nonstatutory essential elements of the charged offense. 1 State 

v. McCmiy, 140 Wn.2d 420, 425, 998 P.2d 296 (2000). The purpose ofthis 

mle is to properly notify the accused of the charges against him and allow 

1 CrR 2.1(a)(l) likewise requires the infonnation to "be a plain, concise and 
definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged." 

. . 
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him to prepare and present a defense. State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 101, 

812 P .2d 86 ( 1991 ). A challenge to the constitutional sufficiency of an 

infonnation may be raised for the first time on appeal. Id. at 102-03. 

In charging burglaty, "the ownership or occupancy of the premises 

alleged to have been broken into must be alleged in some matmer sufficient 

to negative the right of the person charged with the crime to enter the 

building." State v. Klein, 195 Wash. 338, 341, 80 P.2d 825 (1938). The 

State charged Klein and his codefendant with second degree burglat·y. Id. at 

339. At the time, second degree burglary was defined as: 

Every person who, with intent to commit some crime therein 
shall, under circumstances not atnounting to burglary in the 
first degree, enter the dwelling-house of another or break and 
enter, or, having committed a crime therein, shall break out 
of, any building or pati thereof, or a room or other structure 
wherein any property is kept for use, sale or deposit, shall be 
guilty of burglary in the second degree and shall be punished 
by imprisonment in the state penitentiary for not more than 
fifteen years. 

Id. at 340 (quoting Rem. Rev. Stat., § 2579). RCW 9A.52.030 now defines 

it as: "A person is guilty of burglary in the second degree if, with intent to 

commit a crime against a person or property therein, he or she enters or 

remains unlawfully in a building other than a vehicle or a dwelling." 

The information in Klein alleged: 

They, the said Harry Klein and Jatnes Cole, in the 
county of Snohomish, state of Washington, on or about the 
29th day of August, 1937, did wil[l]fully, unlawfully and 
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feloniously, and with the intent to commit some crime 
· therein, to-wit: larceny, break and enter a building, to wit: 

The Tradewell Store building, located at 2813 Colby avenue, 
in the city of Everett, Washington, being managed by one 
Jolm Bird of the city of Everett, Washington, said building 
being a building in which property was then and there kept 
for use, sale or deposit. 

195 Wash. at 339. The Klein court found this sufficient to charge burglary. 

Id. at 342. In reaching this conclusion, the court relied on cases holding 

occupancy, not ownership, of a building was an essential element, and a 

person in direct management of a building is the occupant, as a matter of 

law. Id. at 341-42. The information identified John Bird as the manager of 

the burglarized building, thereby establishing the building's occupancy and 

negating Klein's right to enter. Id. at 344. 

What the Klein court essentially held was the information must 

provide notice that a person or entity has a possessory interest in the 

burglarized premises superior to that of the accused. See id. at 343-44. 

Alleging someone other than the accused owned or occupied the burglarized 

building is a common way of articulating this superior interest. Thus, 

allegation of ownership or occupancy is material for two purposes: "(1) To 

show on the record that the building burglarized is not the property of the 

accused, and (2) to identify the offense to such an extent as to protect the 

accused from a second prosecution for the same offense." Id. at 343-44. 
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Other cases demonstrate this rule as well. See, e.g., State v. Knizek, 

192 Wash. 351, 352, 73 P.2d 731 (1937) (infonnation alleging Knizek broke 

and entered warehouse "belonging to the Union Oil Company of California" 

was sufficient to show the warehouse belonged to someone other than 

Knizek); State v. Burke, 124 Wash. 632, 633,215 P. 31 (1923) (information 

alleging burglruy committed by breaking and entering in the nighttime "the 

First Bank of White Bluffs, in Benton county, Wash.," sufficient to chru·ge 

burglary although owner ofbank not nruned); State v. Franklin, 124 Wash. 

620, 623, 215 P. 29 (1923) (infonnation charging Franklin with breaking and 

entering a bank, post office, railway express or mail car, provided sufficient 

notice despite failing to specify owner). 

These cases establish that an information charging burglary must 

include language that indicates someone or something held a possessory 

interest in the burglarized property superior to that of the accused. The 

information charging Allen fails to do so. Instead, the information provides 

only the general address for the Public Storage site in Renton. CP 12. On 

November 27, 2013, the date of the alleged offense, Allen owned storage 

unit 625 on that property and had lawful access to it. Nowhere does the 

information allege Allen entered a storage unit owned by someone with a 

superior interest to him. The infom1ation is therefore constitutionally infi1m 
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because it failed to provide sufficient notice to Allen that he did not have the 

right or privilege to enter the building at 3600 East Valley Road. 

Klein compels this result despite a change in the burglary statutes. 

See, e.g., State v. Wilson, 136 Wn. App. 596, 606, 150 P.3d 144 (2007) 

(recognizing modem statutes treat burglary as an offense against habitation 

and occupancy rather than ownership of property, just as courts did at 

common law). An infmmation must still charge ownership or occupancy of 

the burglarized premises. Unlike Klein, where the State alleged John Bird 

managed (i.e., occupied) the building at issue, the infmmation here alleges 

only that Allen "did enter and remain unlawfully in a building, located at 

3600 East Valley Road." CP 12. No owner, occupant, or manager is 

mentioned. This fails to negate Allen's right to enter, where Allen actually 

had a right to enter the Public Storage property at 3600 East Valley Road. 

The State may claim the "did enter and remain unlawfully" language 

sufficiently apprised Allen he had no right to enter the premises. This 

argument would likely be based on RCW 9A.52.010(5), which provides, "A 

person 'enters or remains unlawfully' in or upon premises when he or she is 

not then licensed, invited, or otherwise privileged to so enter or remain." 

When the Comt decided Klein, there was no statutory counterpart to 

RCW 9A.52.010(5). Nevertheless, Rem. Rev. Stat. § 2063 provided that 

terms not defined by law were to be construed according their common 
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usage. Klein's infmmation stated he and a cohmi "unlawfully ... enter[ed] a 

building." Klein, 195 Wash. at 339. "Unlawful entry" is defined as "[t]he 

crime of entering another's real property, by fraud or other illegal means, 

without the owner's consent." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 574 (8th ed. 

2004). Therefore, Rem. Rev. Stat. § 2063, combined with the definition of 

"unlawful entry," is essentially the same as RCW 9A.52.01 0(5). 

The Klein court nevertheless found the words "unlawfully ... 

ent[ ered]" did not obviate the need to allege an ownership or occupancy 

interest in the building entered. 195 Wash. at 339-41. This reasoning has 

not changed. Allen's information failed to allege ownership or occupancy in 

the "building, located at 3600 East Valley Road," when Allen had ownership 

of a building at that location. 

Allen did not challenge the information before the verdict. When 

such is the case, comis liberally construe the information's sufficiency. State 

v. McCarty, 140 Wn.2d 420, 425, 998 P.2d 296 (2000). But the information 

may be found sufficient only "if the necessary elements appear in any form, 

or by fair construction may be found, on the face of the document." Id. "If 

the document cmmot be construed to give notice of or to contain in some 

mmmer the essential elements of a crime, the most liberal reading cannot 

cure it." State v. Campbell, 125 Wn.2d 797, 802, 888 P.2d 1185 (1995). 

Therefore, if the missing elements are not found or fairly implied, prejudice 
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is presumed and dismissal without prejudice is the proper remedy. McCarty, 

140 Wn.2d at 425-26,428. 

A liberal reading of Allen's infmmation fails to reveal, by 

implication or otherwise, the essential element or ownership or occupancy of 

the building at 3600 East Valley Road. This Court should therefore dismiss 

Allen's conviction without prejudice. Id. at 428. 

2. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED REVERSIBLE 
MISCONDUCT BY REPEATEDLY INVITING THE 
JURY TO INFER ALLEN WAS GUILTY OF AN 
UNCHARGED CRIME. 

Prosecutors are officers of the comi and have a duty to ensure that an 

accused person receives a fair trial. Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 

55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L. Ed. 1314 (1935); State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 

257 P.3d 551 (2011). When there is a substantial likelihood that improper 

comments affected the jury's verdict, the accused's rights to a fair trial and to 

be tried by an impartial jury are violated. U.S. CONST. amend. XIV; WASH. 

CONST. mi. 1, §§ 3, 22; State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 

(1984). Reversal is required, even without defense objection, when the 

prosecutor's misconduct is so flagrant and ill intentioned that no curative 

instruction could have erased the prejudice. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 

747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). 
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a. The prosecutor improperly invited the jury to infer 
Allen was guilty of an uncharged crime. 

A prosecutor is forbidden from appealing to the jurors' passions and 

encouraging them to render a verdict based on emotion rather than properly 

admitted evidence. State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507-08, 755 P.2d 174 

(1988). Improper appeals to passion or prejudice include arguments 

intended to incite feelings of fear, anger, or desire for revenge, and that 

otherwise prevent calm and dispassionate evaluation of the evidence. State 

v. Elledge, 144 Wn.2d 62, 85, 26 P.3d 271 (2001). This includes comments 

encouraging jurors to convict based on propensity to commit the crime 

charged. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 748-49. It is particularly offensive to suggest 

that the accused committed an uncharged crime. State v. Henderson, 100 

Wn. App. 794, 802-03, 998 P.2d 907 (2000); State v. Torres, 16 Wn. App. 

254, 256, 554 P.2d 1069 (1976).

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