FILED
Nov 30, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73203-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

NATHON ALLEN,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE BRIAN GAIN

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DONALD J. PORTER Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

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

reference to an uncharged burglary; the prosecutor's repeated references to the defendants as "Mexican-Americans"; the prosecutor's improper phrasing of much of the opening statement in the form of testimony rather than an outline of anticipated facts; the prosecutor's persistent use of leading questions when examining the victim despite repeated sustained objections that led to the court finding the prosecutor in contempt; the prosecutor having asked a witness whether the defendant had testified at a preliminary hearing, thereby improperly implicating the defendant's right against self-incrimination; the prosecutor in closing argument improperly referring to the spousal privilege by pointing out that the defendant's wife did not testify for him; and, in closing argument, the prosecutor persistently discussed prospective punishment despite repeated sustained objections. See id. at 256-62. These egregious facts do not even remotely resemble the case at bar.

Here, considering the context of the arguments and the issues in the case, particularly given that the arguments concerned evidence the admission of which the defense did not object to and in fact benefited from, the prosecutor did not commit misconduct in closing argument. In the context of the case, the defense was essentially attempting to place a burden on the State to prove that Allen was, in fact, responsible for the earlier burglary. It was important for the prosecutor to distinguish for the

jury that the State had the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt only the elements of the charged offense, not the earlier burglary. It was not misconduct, under these circumstances, for the prosecutor to explain the lack of the burden of proof, and also to argue from the admitted evidence that Allen probably had been involved in some manner in the first burglary.

d. If The Prosecutor Committed Any Error In Closing Argument It Is Not Reversible.

Even if this Court were to find that the prosecutor's references to Allen having likely been involved in the earlier uncharged burglary were improper, the error is not reversible. The prosecutor's first reference drew no objection and, thus, Allen has the burden to show that the remark was flagrant and ill-intentioned, and that (1) "no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury," and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that "had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict." Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 761. Here, given that the prosecutor was addressing evidence of the earlier burglary that had been admitted without objection and which formed the theme of Allen's defense, it cannot be said that the prosecutor's comment was flagrant and ill-intentioned.

Regarding the prosecutor's second reference, to which Allen's objection was denied, Allen has the burden of showing that the

prosecutor's misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760. Here, he cannot do that. The jury heard the testimony of the burglary victim, Burt Brienen, as he narrated the surveillance video of Allen and another man loading Allen's truck and trailer with his property that he knew to have been in his locker after he had reported the first burglary. It is also apparent from the verdict that the jury determined that the pre-auction inventory of the locker by a Public Storage manager would have revealed Brienen's property had it been stolen before Allen gained access. Stolen property that Brienen knew was in his locker after the first burglary was found at Allen's residence. The evidence of Allen's guilt was strong.

In arguing that the prosecutor's alleged misconduct was so severe that reversal is required Allen relies heavily on State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). But Fisher is inapposite. In Fisher, the defendant was convicted of four counts of child molestation, all involving the same victim, Melanie. At a pretrial hearing the trial court determined that the defendant's abuse of several other children would be admissible only to explain why Melanie, who had witnessed the abuse and was fearful, had delayed reporting the offenses against her, and only if the defense raised the issue of delayed reporting. Id. at 734-35. Despite the

trial court's ruling that the disputed evidence was admissible for only a limited purpose, the prosecutor throughout the case developed an improper theme that the defendant had a propensity to commit child abuse.

... the prosecuting attorney used the evidence to generate a theme throughout the trial that Fisher's sexual abuse of Melanie was consistent with his physical abuse of all his stepchildren and biological children, an impermissible use of the evidence. In violation of the court's pretrial ruling and in spite of defense counsel's standing objection, the prosecuting attorney directed the jury to consider the evidence of physical abuse to prove Fisher's alleged propensity to commit sexual abuse when he discussed the system failing Tyler, Melanie, Brett, Brittany, Ashland, and Shelby.

Id. at 748.

In finding that the prosecutor's improper argument had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict, and therefore reversing his convictions, the court reasoned:

The jury, therefore, was left with the wrong impression that it must convict Fisher to obtain justice for the harm caused to Brett, Brittany, Ashland, and Shelby, in addition to Melanie.

Id. at 749.

In <u>Fisher</u>, a case involving child sexual abuse, the nature of the prosecutor's argument was undeniably inflammatory. Here, the prosecutor's reference to Allen likely having been involved in the prior burglary would have had no such inflammatory effect,

and thus there was not a substantial likelihood that the comments affected the jury's verdict, particularly given the strength of the evidence against Allen.

3. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE MEANING OF REASONABLE DOUBT.

Allen asserts that the language of WPIC 4.01 defining reasonable doubt as "one for which a reason exists," is a misstatement of the law and therefore his conviction must be reversed. This argument has no merit and was never raised below. This Court is bound by precedent of the Washington Supreme Court upholding WPIC 4.01.

a. Relevant Facts.

Here, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty, which puts in issue every element of the crime charged. The State, as plaintiff, has the burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists.

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless you find during your deliberations that it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. A reasonable doubt is a doubt that would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence.

CP 46 (Jury Instruction 2) (emphasis added). It is the highlighted language of which Allen now complains. This language is from WPIC 4.01. As Allen acknowledges, he did not object at trial to this instruction.

b. The Alleged Error Is Not Manifest And Cannot Be Raised For The First Time On Appeal.

An instructional error not objected to below may be raised for the first time on appeal only if it is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 686-87, 757 P.2d 492 (1988) (failure to instruct on "knowledge" was not manifest error). To obtain review, a defendant must show that the claimed error is of constitutional magnitude and that it resulted in actual prejudice. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98-99, 217 P.3d 756 (2009).

If the claimed error is of constitutional magnitude, the court will determine whether the error is manifest. An error is manifest if it is "so obvious on the record that the error warrants appellate review." O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 99-100. Manifest error also requires a showing of "actual prejudice." Id. To demonstrate actual prejudice there must be a "plausible showing by the appellant that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." Id.

The State acknowledges that it is an error of constitutional magnitude when a trial court incorrectly instructs the jury in a way that

misstates reasonable doubt or shifts the burden of proof to the defendant. State v. McCullum, 98 Wn.2d 484, 488, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983). However, although Allen asserts that a constitutional error occurred, he fails to establish that it was manifest error for the trial court to give the standard WPIC defining reasonable doubt. Recently, in State v. Kalebaugh, 183 Wn.2d 578, 355 P.3d 253 (2015), our supreme court found that a trial court's oral instruction on reasonable doubt was manifest error specifically because it differed from WPIC 4.01.

In <u>Kalebaugh</u>, before a jury was impaneled, the trial court gave the jury venire oral instructions that included an incorrect articulation of the reasonable doubt standard:

If after your deliberations you do not have *a doubt for which a reason can be given* as to the defendant's guilt, then, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

On the other hand, if after your deliberations you do have *a doubt for which a reason can be given* as to the defendant's guilt, then, you are not satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

<u>Id.</u> at 582 (emphasis added). The defendant did not object. <u>Id.</u> At the close of the evidence, the trial court instructed the jury with relevant Washington pattern jury instructions. <u>Id.</u> The supreme court stated: "More importantly and relevant to our review, the court's instructions

included the complete and proper version of WPIC 4.01, the instruction on reasonable doubt." <u>Id.</u>

The <u>Kalebaugh</u> court, in determining whether the alleged error was "obvious on the record" and "practical and identifiable," and, thus, manifest, contrasted the judge's oral instruction with the correct standard for instructing on reasonable doubt.

The trial judge instructed that a "reasonable doubt" is a doubt for which a reason can be given, rather than the correct jury instruction that a "reasonable doubt" is a doubt for which a reason exists. WPIC 4.01, at 85. The jury instruction given was a misstatement of the law that the trial court should have known, and the mistake is manifest from the record. Thus, Kalebaugh's claim is a manifest constitutional error and can be raised for the first time on appeal.

Id. at 584. Thus, it was the deviation from the "correct jury instruction," WPIC 4.01, that made the trial court's error manifest. Here, Allen does not even allege that the trial court's instruction on reasonable doubt deviated from what our supreme court termed the correct statement of the law, WPIC 4.01. There was no manifest error.

The trial court's use of WPIC 4.01 is not an "obvious error," and there can be nothing more than pure speculation that the inclusion of the disputed language in the jury instructions had any identifiable consequences. This is insufficient to allow for appellate review.

State v. Donald, 178 Wn. App. 250, 271, 316 P.3d 1081 (2013) (refusing

to consider defendant's argument regarding the "to convict" jury instructions because he failed to object below and failed to demonstrate prejudice as required under RAP 2.5). This Court should decline to address Allen's argument regarding the reasonable doubt instruction.

c. The Instructions Correctly State The Law.

Allen argues that WPIC 4.01 is unconstitutional. He contends that the instruction required the jury to articulate a reason to doubt, thereby undermining the presumption of innocence. However, the instruction correctly states the law. It does not lead jurors to believe that that they must be able to articulate their reason for acquittal. Allen's arguments should be rejected.

Jury instructions are read as a whole and in a commonsense manner. State v. Bowerman, 115 Wn.2d 794, 809, 802 P.2d 116 (1990). A court will not assume a strained reading of an instruction. State v. Moultrie, 143 Wn. App. 387, 394, 177 P.3d 776, rev. denied, 164 Wn.2d 1035 (2008). The instructions are legally sufficient if they permit the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not mislead the jury, and properly inform the jury of the applicable law. State v. Barnes, 153 Wn.2d 378, 382, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005). The instructions must define reasonable doubt and convey to the jury that the State bears the burden of

proving every essential element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007).

Over 100 years ago, the Washington Supreme Court approved a reasonable doubt instruction similar to WPIC 4.01. State v. Harras, 25 Wash. 416, 420, 65 P.2d 774 (1901). There, the jury was instructed that a reasonable doubt was "a doubt for which a good reason exists." The supreme court said the instruction was correct "according to the great weight of authority" and was not error. Id. at 421.

Almost 60 years ago, the supreme court rejected yet another challenge to a reasonable doubt definition. State v. Tanzymore, 54 Wn.2d 178, 178-79, 240 P.2d 290 (1959). The challenged instruction defined reasonable doubt as:

a doubt for which a reason exists A reasonable doubt is such a doubt as exists in the mind of a reasonable man after he has fully, fairly, and carefully compared and considered all of the evidence or lack of evidence introduced at the trial. If, after a careful consideration and comparison of all the evidence, you can say you have an abiding conviction of the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

<u>Id.</u> The supreme court said that a challenge to that definition, which had been accepted as a fair statement of the law for "many years," was without merit. <u>Id.</u> at 179.

Forty years ago, Division II of this Court reaffirmed the correctness of that definition in <u>State v. Thompson</u>, 13 Wn. App. 1, 533 P.2d 395 (1975). Thompson argued that the phrase "a doubt for which a reason exists" required jurors to assign a reason for their doubt in order to acquit. <u>Id.</u> at 4-5. The court disagreed. <u>Id.</u> at 5. When read together with all of the instructions, the reasonable doubt instruction did not tell the jury to assign a reason for its doubts, but rather to base its doubts "on reason, not on something vague or imaginary." <u>Id.</u>

Within the last decade, the supreme court has determined that the wording of WPIC 4.01's definition of reasonable doubt is constitutional. In <u>Bennett</u>, <u>supra</u>, the defendant had asked the trial court to instruct the jury using WPIC 4.01. Instead, the court gave the so-called <u>Castle</u>³ instruction which read, in part:

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. . . . There are very few things in this world we know with absolute certainty, and in criminal cases, the law does not require proof that overcomes every possible doubt.

161 Wn.2d at 309. The <u>Bennett</u> court said this instruction was constitutionally adequate but not necessarily "a good or even desirable instruction." Id. at 316. The court exercised its "inherent supervisory

³ The instruction first appeared in <u>State v. Castle</u>, 86 Wn. App. 48, 935 P.2d 656 (1997).

powers to maintain sound judicial practice" and instructed every trial court to define reasonable doubt using WPIC 4.01. <u>Id.</u> at 306. Even the four-person dissent, which would have overturned the conviction based on the <u>Castle</u> instruction, agreed that WPIC 4.01's language was clear. <u>Id.</u> at 320.

Most recently, in <u>Kalebaugh</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Washington Supreme Court reaffirmed, as discussed above, that WPIC 4.01 was "the correct legal instruction on reasonable doubt." 183 Wn.2d at 584. There, during its introductory remarks, the trial court orally paraphrased the term as "a doubt for which a reason *can be given*." <u>Id.</u> at 7 (emphasis in original). However, at the end of the case, the court provided "the complete and proper version of WPIC 4.01, the reasonable doubt instruction." <u>Id.</u> at 582. In concluding that error in the trial judge's "offhand" explanation was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the Court specifically disagreed that WPIC 4.01 requires the jury to articulate a reason for having a reasonable doubt or was akin to the improper "fill in the blank" argument made in <u>State v. Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). <u>Id.</u> at 585. Thus, Allen's reliance on <u>Emery</u> is undercut by <u>Kalebaugh</u>.

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